IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,

Plaintiff-Appellee,

v.

YALE E. STEVENS,

Defendant-Appellant.

SUPREME COURT
NO. 20-1393

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR WOODBURY COUNTY
HONORABLE JOHN C. NELSON, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT
AND
REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

MARTHA J. LUCEY
State Appellate Defender

SONIA M. ELOSSAIS
Law Student
selossais@spd.state.ia.us

MELINDA J. NYE
Assistant Appellate Defender
mnye@spd.state.ia.us
appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER'S OFFICE
Fourth Floor Lucas Building
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. Whether the dog's signal on the driver's side of an empty car provided an insufficient nexus to search Stevens, a former passenger in the car, and the search violated Stevens' rights under the Fourth Amendment and article I, section 8?

Authorities

Lamasters v. State, 821 N.W.2d 856, 862 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Coffman, 914 N.W.2d 240, 244 (Iowa 2018)

State v. Storm, 898 N.W.2d 140, 144 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Kurth, 813 N.W.2d 270, 272 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Tyler, 867 N.W.2d 136, 152 (Iowa 2015)

Carpenter v. United States, 138 S.Ct. 2206, 2214 (2018)

Boyd v. United States, 166 U.S. 626, 630 (1886)

United States v. Di Re, 332 U.S. 581, 587 (1948)

Carroll v. United States, 267 U.S. 132, 149 (1925)

Smith v. Maryland, 442 U.S. 735, 740 (1979)

Welsh v. Wisconsin, 466 U.S. 740, 750 (1984)

Payton v. New York, 445 U.S. 573, 587-89 (1980)

State v. Naujoks, 637 N.W.2d 101, 107 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Canas, 597 N.W.2d 488, 492 (Iowa 1999)

State v. Loyd, 530 N.W.2d 708, 711 (Iowa 1995)

State v. Keehner, 425 N.W.2d 41, 44 (Iowa 1988)

State v. Roth, 305 N.W.2d 501, 504 (Iowa 1981)

Brinegar v. United States, 338 U.S. 160, 175 (1949)

United States v. Di Re, 332 U.S. 581, 587 (1948)

Wyoming v. Houghton, 526 U.S. 295, 307-308 (1999)

State v. Horton, 625 N.W.2d 362, 365 (2001)

State v. Merrill, 538 N.W.2d 300, 302 (Iowa 1995)

State v. Moriarty, 566 N.W.2d 866, 868 (Iowa 1997)

State v. Predka, 555 N.W.2d 202, 207 (Iowa 1996)

State v. Edgington, 487 N.W.2d 675, 678 (Iowa 1992)

State v. Riley, 501 N.W.2d 487, 489 (Iowa 1993)

State v. Harris, 280 S.W.3d 832, 845 (Tenn. Crim. App. 2008)

Wallace v. State, 791 A.2d 968, 986 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. 2002)

People v. Fondia, 740 N.E.2d 839, 843-45 (Ill. App. Ct. 2000)

1. The search of Stevens' person was unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment

a. "Drug House":

b. K9 Signal on Vehicle:

State v. Tyler, 867 N.W.2d 136, 152 (Iowa 2015)

United States v. Jacobs, 986 F.2d 1231, 1233 (8th Cir. 1993)

People v. Fondia, 740 N.E.2d 839, 843-45 (Ill. App. Ct. 2000)

State v. Moriarty, 566 N.W.2d 866, 868 (Iowa 1997)

c. Mumbling.

Mikah Story Thompson, *Methinks the Lady Doth Protest Too Little: Reassessing the Probative Value of Silence*, 47 U. Louisville L. Rev. 21, 40-43 (2008)

d. Other circumstances.

Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 8-11 (1968)

2. Even if the court determines the search was permissible under the Fourth Amendment, it violated article I, Section of the Iowa Constitution.

State v. Gibbs, 941 N.W.2d 888, 910 (2020)

Schmidt v. State, 909 N.W.2d 778, 793 (Iowa 2018)

State v. Ochoa, 792 N.W.2d 260, 267 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Baldon, 829 N.W.2d 785, 809 (Iowa 2013)

The Debates of the Constitutional Convention of the State of Iowa 100 (W. Blair Lord rep., 1857)

Mark S. Cady, *A Pioneer's Constitution: How Iowa's Constitutional History Uniquely Shapes Our Pioneering Tradition in Recognizing Civil Rights and Civil Liberties*, 60 Drake L.Rev. 1133, 1145 (2012)

State v. Gaskins, 866 N.W.2d 1, 7 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Short, 851 N.W.2d 474, 506 (Iowa 2014)
State v. Kern, 831 N.W.2d 149, 177 (Iowa 2013)
State v. Fleming, 790 N.W.2d 560, 567–568 (Iowa 2010)
State v. Tague, 676 N.W.2d 197, 206 (Iowa 2004)
State v. Cline, 617 N.W.2d 277, 292-93 (Iowa 2000)
Carpenter v. United States, 138 S.Ct. 2206, 2214 (2018)
State v. Naujoks, 637 N.W.2d 101, 107 (Iowa 2001)

II. Whether the evidence was insufficient to prove the substance in Stevens' possession was methamphetamine?

Authorities

State v. Howse, 875 N.W.2d 684, 688 (Iowa 2016)
State v. Anspach, 627 N.W.2d 277, 231 (Iowa 2001)
State v. Romer, 832 N.W.2d 169, 174 (Iowa 2013)
State v. Polly, 657 N.W.2d 462, 467 (2003)
State v. Kemp, 688 N.W.2d 785, 789 (Iowa 2004)
In re Winship, 397 US. 358, 364 (1970)
State v. Gibbs, 239 N.W.2d 866, 867 (Iowa 1976)
State v. Brubaker, 805 N.W.2d 164,171 (Iowa 2011)
Iowa Code § 124.401(5) (2019)

1. Field tests are unreliable and field tests without confirmatory testing are insufficient to prove a substance was an illegal substance

People v. Hagberg, 733 N.E.2d 1271, 1274 (Ill. 2000)

State v. Jackson, 468 N.W.2d 431, 431 (Wis. 1991)

State in Interest of J.W., 597 So.2d 1056, 1058-59 (La. Ct. App. 1992)

L.R. v. State, 557 So.2d 121, 122 (Dist. Ct. App. Florida 1990)

People v. Jason F., 694 N.Y.S.2d 908, 910 (N.Y. Justice Ct. 1999)

Alan Harris, A Test of a Different Color: The Limited Value of Presumptive Field Drug Tests and Why That Value Demands Their Exclusion from Trial, 40 Sw. L. Rev. 531, 541-42 (2011)

Ryan Gabrielson & Topher Sanders, How a \$2 Roadside Drug Test Sends Innocent People to Jail, New York Times Magazine, (July 7, 2016),

<https://www.nytimes.com/2016/07/10/magazine/how-a-2-roadside-drug-test-sends-innocent-people-to-jail.html>

The Washington Post (Feb. 26, 2015)

<https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/the-watch/wp/2015/02/26/a-partial-list-of-things-that-field-testing-drug-kits-have-mistakenly-identified-as-contraband/>

Sagiv Galai, Prosecutors Have the Power to Stop Bad Roadside Drug Tests From Ruining People's Lives, American Civil Liberties Union, (Feb. 26, 2019),

<https://www.aclu.org/blog/criminal-law-reform/drug-law-reform/prosecutors-have-power-stop-bad-roadside-drug-tests-ruining>

Lia Fernandez, Putting Law Enforcement Drug Testing Kits to the Test (Aug. 21, 2019),
<https://www.wrdw.com/content/news/Putting-law-enforcements-drug-testing-kits-to-the-test-557792751.html>

State v. Martinez, 59 A.3d 975, 990-91 (Conn. App. 2013)

2. The surrounding circumstantial evidence in this case is inadequate to prove the substance was methamphetamine.

State v. Brubaker, 805 N.W.2d 164,171 (Iowa 2011)

United States v. Dolan, 544 F.2d 1219, 1221
(4th Cir. 1976)

a. Physical appearance of the substance.

State v. Brubaker, 805 N.W.2d 164,171 (Iowa 2011)

b. Evidence that the substance produced the expected effects when sampled by someone familiar with the illicit drug and evidence that the substance was used in the same manner as the illicit drug.

State v. Pettyjohn, No. 17-1236, 2018 WL 3650335 at *3-4
(Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 1, 2018)

c. Testimony that a high price was paid in cash for the substance, evidence that transactions involving the substance were carried on with secrecy or deviousness, and evidence that the substance was called by the name of the illegal narcotic by the defendant or others in his presence.

State in Interest of J.W., 597 So.2d 1056, 1058-59
(La. Ct. App. 1992)

d. Other circumstances.

Fla. v. Harris, 568 U.S. 237, 247 (2013)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be transferred to the Court of Appeals because the issues raised involve the application of existing legal principles. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d) and 6.1101(3)(a).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Defendant-Appellant Yale Stevens appeals his conviction, sentence, and judgment following a bench trial on the minutes of testimony and verdict finding him guilty of Possession of a Controlled Substance - First Offense (Methamphetamine), a Serious Misdemeanor, in violation of Iowa Code section 124.401(5) (2019).

Course of Proceedings

On March 2, 2020, the State charged Stevens with Possession of a Controlled Substance - First Offense (Methamphetamine), a Serious Misdemeanor, in violation of Iowa Code Section 124.401(5) (2019). (Trial Information) (App. pp. 4-5). Stevens waived his right to speedy trial. (Waiver of Speedy Trial) (App. p. 6).

On March 30, 2020, Stevens filed a Motion to Suppress alleging the search of Stevens' person was unconstitutional because the K9's alert to the presence of contraband inside the vehicle in which Stevens was passenger was an insufficient nexus to search Stevens, who was outside the vehicle. (Motion to Suppress) (App. pp. 7-10). The State resisted the motion to suppress. (State's Resistance) (App. pp. 11-14).

A hearing on the motion was held. (Supp. Tr. p. 1; Order re: Motion, p. 1) (App. p. 15). Following presentation of evidence and arguments from the parties, the court denied Stevens' motion to suppress. (Order re: Motion pg. 4) (App. p. 18). The court concluded that because the car Stevens was riding in had been seen leaving a "known drug house," the K9 signaled on the passenger side of the car, and Stevens mumbled when questioned, a sufficient nexus was established to search Stevens. (Order re: Motion pg. 3) (App. p. 17). Despite denying the motion, the court found ruling on the motion to be a "difficult call." (Sentencing Tr. p. 4 L. 18 – p. 5 L. 1).

The case proceeded to trial on August 27, 2020. (Trial Tr. p. 1). Stevens waived his right to jury trial. (Trial Tr. p. 2 L.12 – p. 3 L. 17; Jury Trial Waiver) (App. pp. 20-21). Following a colloquy with Stevens regarding his waiver, the district court proceeded to a trial considering a stipulated record of the minutes of testimony and attached reports and State’s Exhibit 1—the dash cam video recording from the stop. (Trial Tr. p. 3 L. 18 – p. 4 L. 15). The court found Stevens guilty of Possession Methamphetamine - First Offense. (Verdict p. 3) (App. p. 24).

The district court sentenced Stevens to five days in the Woodbury County Jail with a credit for time served. (Sentencing Order p. 1) (App. p. 26). Stevens was also ordered to undergo a substance abuse evaluation and pay a fine of \$315 plus statutory surcharges. (Sentencing Order) (App. p. 26-27).

Stevens filed a timely notice of appeal on October 28, 2020. (Notice of Appeal) (App. p. 29).

Statement of Facts

At approximately 1 a.m. on February 26, 2020, Sergeant Brian Clausen of the Sioux City Police Department, observed a tan Audi leaving what he believed to be a drug house and began to follow it. (Supp. Tr. p. 4 L. 10-25). Sergeant Clausen subsequently observed that the vehicle's center brake light was not working and, because he was in plainclothes, called a uniformed officer, Officer Nick Thompson, to conduct a traffic stop. (Supp. Tr. p. 4 L. 21 – p. 5 L. 13; State's Ex. 1 at 0:45).

The car had two occupants. Officer Thompson first addressed Kyle Stevens, the defendant's brother, who was driving. (Supp. Tr. p. 7 L.16-17; State's Ex. 1 at 1:46). Sergeant Clausen spoke with the defendant, Yale Stevens, who was seated in the back passenger seat of the car. (Supp. Tr. p. 6 L. 5-10; State's Ex. 1 at 5:38). Approximately nine minutes into the stop, the driver was arrested for driving while suspended and removed from the vehicle. (Supp. Tr. p. 8 L. 21-25; p. 36 L. 16-20; State's Ex. 1 at 8:24).

Stevens was also ordered out of the vehicle by Sergeant

Clausen so that a third officer, Officer Michael Simons, could conduct a K9 vehicle sniff. (Supp. Tr. p. 9 L. 7-11; State's Ex. 1 at 9:36). After exiting the vehicle, Stevens consented to a pat down search. (Supp. Tr. p. 9 L. 15-19). Nothing was found. (Supp. Tr. p. 9 L. 20 - p. 10 L. 1).

After Sergeant Clausen removed Stevens from the car, Officer Simons conducted the dog sniff of the vehicle. (Supp. Tr. p. 8 L. 21 – p. 10 L. 11; p. 19 L. 10-18). Officer Simons testified that when the K9 indicates, “it’s real plain. It’s very obvious. The dog’s tail stops wagging. The dog sits and stares at where the odor is coming from.” (Supp. Tr. p. 21 L. 9-11). Simons “started in the passenger front bumper area and worked [his] way counterclockwise.” (Supp. Tr. p. 22 L. 3-23). Simons testified that the dog indicated at the driver’s side door. (Supp. Tr. p. 22 L. 24 – p. 23 L. 16). He then put her inside the vehicle even though it would have been “tough for her – for a passive dog to go inside a car and then actually sit down.” He, however, thought she was “interested” in the passenger side of the car because she sniffed all around and

spent the majority of her time on the passenger side. (Supp. Tr. p. 23 L. 17 – p. 25 L. 14).

After removing the dog from the car, Officer Simons told Sergeant Clausen that the K9 had indicated and advised him to search the passenger. (State’s Ex. 1 at 11:12-11:15; Supp. Tr. p. 10 L. 12-17; p. 24 L. 11-19). Sergeant Clausen asked Stevens if he had anything illegal on him, and he did not answer. (Supp. Tr. p. 10 L. 18 – 23). Sergeant Clausen testified that Stevens “started to mumble about having something in his pocket, but he never did tell me what it was and reached towards his coat pocket.” (Supp. Tr. p. 10, L. 19 – p. 11 L. 2).

Sergeant Clausen stopped him and reached into Stevens’ pocket himself. He found a heat-sealed baggie with a “crystal-like substance” inside. (Supp. Tr. p. 12, L. 10-20; Minutes, p. 9: Officer Loera Report) (Conf. App. p. 12). The substance field-tested positive for methamphetamine; the weight was .51 grams. (Supp. Tr. p. 12, L. 18-20; Minutes, p. 9: Officer Loera Report) (Conf. App. p. 12).

Additional facts will be discussed when relevant.

ARGUMENT

I. The dog’s signal on the driver’s side of an empty car provided an insufficient nexus to search Stevens, a former passenger in the car, and the search violated Stevens’ rights under the Fourth Amendment and article I, section 8.

A. Preservation of Error. Stevens moved to suppress evidence of the crystalline substance discovered in his pocket after a drug dog signaled on the car in which he had been a passenger on the grounds that it violated his rights under the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and article I, Section 8 of the Iowa Constitution. (Motion to Suppress) (App. pp. 7-10). The trial court denied the motion. (Order re: Motion) (App. pp. 15-19). Error was preserved. See Lamasters v. State, 821 N.W.2d 856, 862 (Iowa 2012).

B. Standard of Review. “When a defendant challenges a district court's denial of a motion to suppress based upon the deprivation of a state or federal Constitutional right, our standard of review is de novo.” State v. Coffman, 914 N.W.2d 240, 244 (Iowa 2018) (quoting State v. Storm, 898 N.W.2d

140, 144 (Iowa 2017)). “We examine the whole record and make ‘an independent evaluation of the totality of the circumstances.’” Coffman, 914 N.W.2d at 240 (quoting Storm, 898 N.W.2d at 144). “Each case must be evaluated in light of its unique circumstances.” Coffman, 914 N.W.2d at 244 (quoting State v. Kurth, 813 N.W.2d 270, 272 (Iowa 2012)). “We give deference to the entire district court’s fact findings due to its opportunity to assess the credibility of witnesses, but we are not bound by those findings.” State v. Tyler, 867 N.W.2d 136, 152 (Iowa 2015).

C. Merits. The Fourth Amendment was designed to protect individuals from arbitrary searches. See Carpenter v. United States, 138 S.Ct. 2206, 2214 (2018); see also Boyd v. United States, 166 U.S. 626, 630 (1886). One of the central aims of the Framers in ratification of the Fourth Amendment was “to place obstacles in the way of too permeating police surveillance.” Carpenter 138 S.Ct. at 2214 (quoting United States v. Di Re, 332 U.S. 581, 587 (1948)). Accordingly, when faced with a Fourth Amendment challenge, the court’s

analysis is driven by an understanding of what would have been an unreasonable search at the time the amendment was adopted. Id. (quoting Carroll v. United States, 267 U.S. 132, 149 (1925)).

A physical intrusion constitutes a search and “requires a warrant supported by probable cause.” Id. (quoting Smith v. Maryland, 442 U.S. 735, 740 (1979)). Warrantless searches are presumed unreasonable, and the State bears the burden of overcoming that presumption. See Welsh v. Wisconsin, 466 U.S. 740, 750 (1984). To overcome this burden, the State must show probable cause to search as well as exigent circumstances. See Payton v. New York, 445 U.S. 573, 587-89 (1980).

Like the Fourth Amendment, “Article I, Section 8 of the Iowa Constitution protect[s] individuals against unreasonable searches and seizures.” State v. Naujoks, 637 N.W.2d 101, 107 (Iowa 2001) (quoting State v. Canas, 597 N.W.2d 488, 492 (Iowa 1999)). Reasonableness drives the analysis, as well as a balancing of privacy rights and the interests of law

enforcement. See Naujoks, 637 N.W.2d at 107 (citing State v. Loyd, 530 N.W.2d 708, 711 (Iowa 1995)); State v. Keehner, 425 N.W.2d 41, 44 (Iowa 1988). Further, whether or not a search is reasonable is fact dependent. See Naujoks, 637 N.W.2d at 107; State v. Roth, 305 N.W.2d 501, 504 (Iowa 1981). In order to find an exception to the warrant requirement under article I, section 8, there must be probable cause and exigent circumstances. See Naujoks at 107. Probable cause is not necessarily the level of proof required for a conviction but be “more than a bare suspicion.” Brinegar v. United States, 338 U.S. 160, 175 (1949).

A person does not shed their right to privacy simply by being a passenger in a car: “We are not convinced that a person, by mere presence in a suspected car, loses immunities from search of his person to which he would otherwise be entitled.” United States v. Di Re, 332 U.S. 581, 587 (1948).

This principle was again articulated in Wyoming v. Houghton:

At the same time, I would point out certain limitations upon the scope of the bright-line rule that the Court describes. Obviously, *the rule applies only to automobile searches*. Equally obviously, the

rule applies to containers found within automobiles.
*And it does not extend to the search of a person
found in that automobile.*

Wyoming v. Houghton, 526 U.S. 295, 307-308 (1999) (Breyer, J., concurring) (emphasis added). “It has long been the law that probable cause to search a car does not justify the search of a passenger.” State v. Horton, 625 N.W.2d 362, 365 (2001).

In order to conduct a separate search of a passenger, the police must have independent probable cause to search the passenger. See State v. Merrill, 538 N.W.2d 300, 302 (Iowa 1995) (upholding search of passenger when the officer smelled burnt marijuana on his person and saw him hiding paraphernalia in his hand). Independent probable cause boils down to whether “a reasonably prudent person would believe that evidence of a crime will be discovered in the place to be searched.” State v. Moriarty, 566 N.W.2d 866, 868 (Iowa 1997). “We look to the totality of circumstances, to determine whether probable cause existed, including ‘the sum total ... and the synthesis of what the police have heard, what they know, and what they observe as trained officers.’” State v.

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