IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 20-1393

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

YALE E. STEVENS,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR WOODBURY COUNTY
THE HONORABLE JOHN C. NELSON, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

SHARON K. HALL
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
(515) 281-4902 (fax)
sharon.hall@ag.iowa.gov

PATRICK JENNINGS
Woodbury County Attorney

RACHEL EDMUNDSON
Assistant Woodbury County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

ARGUMENT

I. The District Court Correctly Overruled the Defendant's Motion to Suppress Finding Probable Cause to Support the Search of Defendant's Person Considering the Totality of Circumstances, Including the Drug Dog Alert Inside the Vehicle in Which He Was a Passenger.

Preservation of Error

Defendant Stevens unsuccessfully moved to suppress the methamphetamine found on his person arguing the drug dog alert inside the vehicle in which he was a backseat passenger did not provide probable cause to search him. Motion to Suppress (3/30/20); Resistance (5/28/20); Suppr. Order (7/09/20); App. 7-19. Stevens did not challenge the presence of exigent circumstances based on the automobile exception to the warrant requirement. *State v. Storm*, 898 N.W.2d 140, 145-47, 156 (Iowa 2017) (retaining the automobile exception).

While Stevens generally cited to both the state and federal constitutions below, he did not argue for more protection or adoption of a different standard under the Iowa Constitution. *See generally* Motion to Suppress; App. 7-10; Suppr. Tr.pp.46-55; *see also State v. Effler*, 769 N.W.2d 880, 895 (Iowa 2009) (Appel, J., specially concurring, noting court's reluctance to consider independent state constitutional ground "on mere citation to the applicable state

constitutional provision”). Nor did the district court separately address case law under the Iowa Constitution. Suppr. Order at 3; App. 17.

Standards for Review

The Court’s review of the district court’s suppression ruling is *de novo*. *State v. Baker*, 925 N.W.2d 602, 609 (Iowa 2019); *State v. Kooima*, 833 N.W.2d 202, 205 (Iowa 2013); *State v. Watts*, 801 N.W.2d 845, 850 (Iowa 2011); *State v. Smith*, 683 N.W.2d 542, 544 (Iowa 2004).

The Court makes “an independent evaluation of the totality of the circumstances as shown by the entire record.” *Watts*, 801 N.W.2d at 850; *see also Baker*, 925 N.W.2d at 609. The Court considers the unique circumstances, including evidence from the suppression hearing and the trial. *State v. Gaskins*, 866 N.W.2d 1, 5 (Iowa 2015); *State v. Kurth*, 813 N.W.2d 270, 277 (Iowa 2012); *State v. Kreps*, 650 N.W.2d 636, 640 (Iowa 2002). The Court gives deference to the factual findings of the district court but is not bound by those findings. *Baker*, 925 N.W.2d at 609; *Kreps*, 650 N.W.2d at 640.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 8 of the Iowa Constitution protect against

unreasonable searches and seizures. *Baker*, 925 N.W.2d at 610; *Kooima*, 833 N.W.2d at 206; *Watts*, 801 N.W.2d at 850. “The purpose of this protection is to safeguard the privacy and security of individuals against arbitrary intrusion by government officials.” *State v. Crawford*, 659 N.W.2d 537, 541 (Iowa 2003) (citation omitted); accord *State v. Coleman*, 890 N.W.2d 284, 300 (Iowa 2017). The State must establish an exception to the warrant requirement by a preponderance of the evidence. *State v. Moriarty*, 566 N.W.2d 866, 868 (Iowa 1997). The inherent mobility of automobiles satisfies the exigent circumstances requirement. *Storm*, 898 N.W.2d at 156; *State v. Stone*, No.19-1429, 2020 WL 2988220, at *6 (Iowa Ct. App. June 3, 2020).

The Supreme Court has explained “the probable cause standard is a practical, nontechnical conception that deals with the factual and practical considerations of everyday life on which reasonable and prudent [people], not legal technicians, act.” *Maryland v. Pringle*, 540 U.S. 366, 370 (2003) (internal citations and quotations omitted). It is a “fluid concept—turning on the assessment of probabilities in particular factual contexts—not readily, or even usefully, reduced to a neat set of legal rules.” *Id.* at 370-71 (citation omitted). Therefore,

probable cause cannot be precisely defined or quantified “into percentages because it deals with probabilities and depends on the totality of the circumstances.” *Id.* at 371. In general, there must be a particularized suspicion of guilt as to the person to be searched or seized. *Id.*; compare *State v. Klimstra*, No.10-1504, 2011 WL 5867973, at *3-4 (Iowa Ct. App. Nov. 23, 2011) (visible baggie in suspect’s coin pocket provided probable cause) with *State v. Campbell*, No.16-0640, 2017 WL 3283284, at *6 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 2, 2017) (no particularized suspicion passenger was committing a crime supported the search of her purse).

Probable cause to search a vehicle or one of its occupants requires more than mere suspicion but less than the standard required for conviction. *State v. Horton*, 625 N.W.2d 362, 365, 367 (Iowa 2001) (finding marijuana butts in ashtray supports reasonable belief passenger also possessed marijuana); see also *State v. Evans*, No.15-0616, 2016 WL 5408303, at *6 (Iowa Ct. App. Sept. 28, 2016) (odor of marijuana on defendant and visible corner of bag in coin pocket). The question is whether the facts and circumstances warrant a person of reasonable caution to believe a crime has been or is being

committed. *Horton*, 625 N.W.2d at 364-65; *Moriarty*, 566 N.W.2d at 868.

A trained drug dog alert or indication provides probable cause to search a vehicle for controlled substances. *State v. Bergmann*, 633 N.W.2d 328, 334 (Iowa 2001); *State v. Becker*, No.15-1840, 2016 WL 6902330, at *2-3 (Iowa Ct. App. Nov. 23, 2016). This Court has previously held that probable cause to search a vehicle for contraband does not, standing alone, also serve as probable cause to search the driver or passenger(s). *Horton*, 625 N.W.2d at 365 (relying on *United States v. DiRe*, 332 U.S. 581, 584-87 (1948)); *see also Wyoming v. Houghton*, 526 U.S. 295, 307-08 (1999) (Breyer, J., concurring); *State v. Merrill*, 538 N.W.2d 300, 301-02 (Iowa 1995) (noting odor of marijuana along with furtive movements of passenger provided probable cause).

Merits

Relying on *DiRe* and *Horton*, Stevens argues that the district court erred in overruling his motion to suppress the meth found on his person urging that a drug dog alert on an empty vehicle did not provide probable cause to search him under either the federal or state constitutions. Appellant's Brief pp.29-45. Stevens points out that the

record lacked details about any criminal history, the “known drug house,” whether Aura signaled a final alert in the backseat of the car, and what Stevens mumbled when asked a second time whether he had anything illegal on his person. *Id.* Stevens also notes that searches of the vehicle and Kyle’s person took place *after* Officer Clausen found the baggie of meth in his coat pocket. *See, e.g., Tedford v. State*, 307 So.23d 738, 746 (Fla. Ct. App. 2020) (drug dog alert on passenger side of vehicle then search of car supported the subsequent dog sniff and search of passenger). The State submits the court in this case correctly found the totality of circumstances provided probable cause to support the search of Stevens’ person. Suppr. Order at 3-4 (7/09/20); App. 17-18.

Stevens’ motion to suppress challenged the significance of the drug dog alert on the empty car. Motion to Suppress at 1-4 (3/30/20); App. 7-10; *see DiRe*, 332 U.S. at 584-87; *Horton*, 625 N.W.2d at 364-65. On appeal Stevens notes that the only canine alert (sit down) visible on the video is outside the driver’s door where his brother had been sitting, and he cites to courts in other states holding that such a drug dog alert does not provide probable cause to search a former passenger. Appellant’s Brief pp.27-29. As noted, Stevens was

searched before the car or his brother, who had already been arrested, were searched. *Cf. Becker*, 2016 WL 6902330 at *2-3 (search of passenger upheld after search of vehicle failed to locate any contraband following a drug dog alert). In addition, Stevens faults officers for failing to have the dog sniff either him or his brother. Appellant's Brief pp.36-37 (citing *People v. Fondia*, 740 N.E.2d 839, 842 (Ill. Ct. App. 2000) (holding officers placed themselves in a position of "willful ignorance" by failing to have the canine sniff the occupants). Notably, Stevens fails to provide any controlling authority that such an intrusion would not be deemed an illegal search of the person. *Compare Bergmann*, 633 N.W.2d at 334 (drug dog sniff outside vehicle deemed not a "search").

In *Maryland v. Pringle*, the Supreme Court found probable cause to arrest all three occupants of a vehicle following the discovery of a large amount of money in the glovebox and cocaine behind the backseat armrest and no offer of information as to the ownership of either the drugs or money. *Pringle*, 540 U.S. at 368-69. The Court explained under the circumstances it was reasonable to infer "that any or all three of the occupants had knowledge of, and exercised dominion and control over, the cocaine;" supporting officers' belief

that Pringle “committed the crime of possession of cocaine, either solely or jointly.” *Id.* at 370-72. The Court distinguished *DiRe* noting that in *DiRe* officers had information singling out or focusing on one person while “none of the three men provided information with respect to the ownership of the cocaine or money” in Pringle’s case. *Id.* at 373-74; see also *United States v. Chauncey*, 420 F.3d 864, 870-71 (8th Cir. 2005) (absent information singling out a guilty party it was reasonable to believe there was a common enterprise); *Richards v. State*, 7 N.E.3d 347, 349-50 (Ind. Ct. App. 2014) (finding it reasonable to infer any occupant had constructive possession of drugs following drug dog alert on vehicle).

Applying *Pringle*, several courts have held that a drug dog alert on a car provides probable cause to search or arrest all occupants based on the “close association” between contraband and the occupants in the absence of particularized suspicion as to one person or guilty party. *United States v. Baez*, 983 F.3d 1029, 1041-42 (8th Cir. 2020) (probable cause to believe everyone in car in which drug trafficking was occurring was involved); *United States v. Klinginsmith*, 25 F.3d 1507, 1509-10 (10th Cir. 1994) (canine alert on vehicle); *State v. Griffin*, 949 So.2d 309, 311-14 (Fla. Ct. App. 2007)

(recognizing *Pringle*'s change of law and certifying question to state supreme court); *State v. Ofori*, 906 A.2d 1089, 1099-1101 (Md. Ct. App. 2006) (canine alert on vehicle provided probable cause to arrest).

This Court has not yet considered a factual scenario like the one presented in Stevens' case where probable cause to believe drugs were in the vehicle, based on the drug dog alert, reasonably implicated both the driver (Kyle) and passenger (Stevens). Although *Horton* was decided before the Supreme Court's decision in *Pringle*, its holding is consistent with that in *Pringle* and not inconsistent with *DiRe* or any Iowa case cited above. *Horton*, 625 N.W.2d at 367 (officers "could have reasonably believed the marijuana had been smoked by Horton, her companion, both, or perhaps neither" providing probable cause to arrest and search her). The district court reasonably applied a nontechnical, common sense evaluation of the totality of circumstances in finding the dog's alert provided probable cause to search the vehicle as well as Stevens. *Pringle*, 540 U.S. at 371-74; *Steck v. State*, 197 A.3d 531, 541-44 (Md. Ct. App. 2018) (agreeing probable cause is not precise or quantifiable).

In resisting the motion to suppress, the State pointed to Stevens' "behaviors" when asked by Clausen about the canine alert. Resistance at 2-3 (5/28/20); App. 12-13; *see, e.g., Merrill*, 538 N.W.2d at 301-02. In finding probable cause, the court noted the "known drug house" connection was not significant standing alone, but when combined with the dog's "signaling on the passenger side and the passenger rear of the vehicle," and Stevens' "behavior when questioned about contraband." Suppr. Order at 3; App. 17.

Officer Clausen testified that he was doing routine checks on "known drug houses" when he observed the Audi leaving one such location during early morning hours. Suppr. Tr.p.4, lines 10-25, p.34, lines 13-19; *see also* Minutes at Clausen report, Niehus report; Conf.App. 7-11. After the traffic stop and brief conversations, Stevens and Kyle were asked to step out of the vehicle when Officer Thompson and his drug sniffing dog arrived. Suppr. Tr.p.6, lines 11-23, p.8, lines 21-25; Exh.1 (8:00-9:00). Stevens agreed to a weapons pat-down and denied he had anything illegal on him. Tr.p.9, line 15-p.10, line 1; Minutes at Clausen report; Conf.App. 8.

Officer Simons testified that Aura indicates the presence of a controlled substance by sitting down. Suppr. Tr.p.20, line 19-p.21,

line 22, p.22, line 24-p.23, line 13. He noted that it was hard for a “passive dog” to sit down inside a vehicle but observed she was spending “the majority of her time” on the passenger side. Tr.p.24, lines 2-19, p.25, lines 3-9; Exh.1 (9:35-11:05). To the extent Stevens argues the record does not establish Aura gave a visible, final trained alert in the backseat, the State submits the dog exhibited behavior consistent with positive drug detection considering her movements and Officer Simon’s credible testimony. *Steck*, 197 A.3d at 542-44 (discussing *United States v. Holleman*, 743 F.3d 1152, 1156 (8th Cir.), *cert. denied*, 573 U.S. 953 (2014) and *United States v. Parada*, 577 F.3d 1275, 1281-82 (2009), *cert. denied*, 560 U.S. 927 (2010) (where courts found probable cause despite the absence of a final canine alert).

After Aura completed her examination in the car, Simons reasonably advised Clausen to check the passenger. Tr.p.10, lines 12-17, p.25, lines 10-14; Exh.1 (11:00-11:30); Minutes at Clausen report; Conf.App. 8. Search of the vehicle’s interior also began at this point. Exh.1 (12:00-18:00). Kyle had been arrested but was not searched until several minutes later at which time a small baggie of meth was

found in a pants pocket. Tr.p.36, line 25-p.37, line 11; Exh.1 (14:00-18:00); Minutes at Niehus report; Conf.App. 10-11.

Following completion of the dog sniff, Clausen immediately asked Stevens why the dog would alert in the car; Stevens said he did not know why. Suppr. Tr.p.10, lines 18-21; Minutes at Clausen report; Conf.App. 8. Clausen asked Stevens if he had anything illegal on him and Stevens just looked at Clausen without answering.⁵

Tr.p.10, lines 18-24, p.12, lines 2-12, p.14, line 14-p.15, line 6;

Minutes; Conf.App. 8. When Clausen advised Stevens he was going to search his person, Stevens moved his hands to his coat pockets.⁶

Tr.p.10,line 18-p.11, line 2; Minutes; Conf.App. 8. Clausen told Stevens to stop reaching and again asked if he had anything illegal on him prompting Stevens to reach into his right coat pocket. Tr.p.12, lines 2-12; Minutes; Conf.App. 8. Clausen told Stevens to stop and pulled his hand out; Stevens “began to mumble that it was in there.” Minutes; Conf.App. 8; Suppr. Order at 2-3; App. 16-17. The officer reasonably interpreted Stevens’ statements, or lack thereof, and his

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